027

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LESTER JOYNER, :  
 :  
 Petitioner, :  
 :  
 vs. :  
 :  
 STATE OF FLORIDA, :  
 :  
 Respondent. :  
 :  
 \_\_\_\_\_ :

Case No. 79,565

**FILED**  
SID J. WHITE  
JUL 31 1992  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk  
8/24

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA  
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JENNIFER Y. FOGLE  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 628204

Public Defender's Office  
Polk County Courthouse  
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD  
Bartow, FL 33830  
(813) 534-4200

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Lester Joyner, was the Appellant in the Second District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the Second District Court of Appeal. The record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 8, 1990, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, charged the Petitioner, LESTER JOYNER, with possession of cocaine in violation of section 893.13(1)(f). Florida Statutes (1989). (R6-8) On February 23, 1990, the trial court accepted Mr. Joyner's plea of nolo contendere and noticed and sentenced him to two years on community control as a "subsequent felony offender," concurrent with community control imposed in 1988 and 1989 violation of probation cases. (R10-18, 62-64) Mr. Joyner's guidelines recommended sentence called for any non-state prison sanction, or community control or twelve to thirty months in prison. (R12)

On May 23, 1990, the court revoked Mr. Joyner's community control on the charge of possession of cocaine and sentenced him to ten years in prison as a "subsequent felony offender," apparently based on the prior convictions in 1988 and 1989. (R70-71, 28-31) The court imposed a sanction of five years on probation on the other two cases, to follow the ten-year prison sentence. (R70-71)

On December 12, 1990, Mr. Joyner filed a pro se petition for writ of habeas corpus, seeking a belated appeal of the judgment and sentence imposed on the charge of possession of cocaine. (R40-45) The Second District Court of Appeal granted Mr. Joyner's pro se motion on January 16, 1990. (R46)

On appeal Mr. Joyner asserted that his sentence of "habitualized community control" followed by a ten-year prison sentence upon revocation of that community control constituted an illegal

application of Fla. Stat. § 775.084 and Chapter 948, requiring his sentence to be vacated. On February 19, 1992, the appellate court affirmed Petitioner's judgment and sentence, holding that any error complained of was waived because there was no objection to the community control sentence when it was imposed and Mr. Joyner did not appeal that initial sentence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner's sentence of habitualized community control followed by prison upon its revocation is an unauthorized and illegal sentence. A sentence which is illegal as a matter of law may be successfully challenged at any time. Legislative intent, the plain meaning of section 775.084 and Chapter 948, and public policy considerations compel a holding that Petitioner's sentence must be vacated.



## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY  
IMPOSING COMMUNITY CONTROL AS A  
HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER?

The Petitioner, Lester Joyner, challenges his ten-year prison sentence as a habitual felony offender on grounds it is illegal. His case involves the practice by trial courts of finding a person to be a habitual offender (without meeting the required statutory proof), but then imposing an initial sanction of probation or community control rather than prison. Upon revocation of this "habitualized probation or community control," the trial court then imposes a lengthy habitualized prison sentence. <sup>1</sup>

With regard to the illegality of Mr. Joyner's original sentence of habitualized community control, the plain language of the habitual offender statute applies. In 1971 the Florida Legislature created section 775.084 of the Florida Statutes to provide for extended terms in the state penitentiary for second and subsequent criminal offenders. (Emphasis added). Ch. 71-136, § 5, Laws of Fla. In 1975 references to subsequent offenders and the state penitentiary were deleted by amendments which provided extended terms of imprisonment for habitual felony offenders (emphasis added). Ch. 75-116, § 1, Laws of Fla. The definition of

---

<sup>1</sup> This practice has been present in numerous cases in Hillsborough and Polk counties, with the courts imposing ultimate sentences of up to 40 and 60 years.

habitual felony offender then, and now, is "a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment . . ." (Emphasis added). § 775.084, Fla. Stat. (1975); §775.084, Fla. Stat. (1989).

Section 775.0841, Florida Statutes (1989) states the legislative intent to "incarcerate [habitual offenders] for extended terms." (Emphasis added). Section 775.0843(2) (d) also provides "[a]ll reasonable prosecutorial efforts shall be made to persuade the court to impose the most severe sanction authorized upon a person convicted after prosecution as a career criminal." (Emphasis added). The granting of community control or probation, the purposes of which are to rehabilitate, for a habitual felony offender is squarely in derogation with the stated legislative goal of enhanced punishment by extended terms of imprisonment. See Steiner v. State, 591 So.2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (LEHAN, J., Specially concurring).

In this case the Appellant initially was placed on community control as a "subsequent felony offender," a sentencing application not within the meaning of the habitual offender or probation and community control statutes. A court cannot extend the meaning of a statute. Where the language of a penal statute is clear, plain, and without ambiguity, effect must be given to it accordingly; and the courts are without power to restrict or extend the meaning. Graham v. State, 472 So.2d 464, 465 (Fla. 1985), citing Fine v. Moran, 74 Fla. 417, 77 So. 533, 536 (1917) Graham stands for the proposition that penal statutes are to be strictly construed and

neither the state nor the court can rely on another statute to extend the meaning of the applicable statute. This fundamental principle was emphasized in Perkins v. State, 576 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1991), where the court said words and meanings beyond the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening a penal statute. The rule of strict construction of criminal statutes is also explicitly codified in section 775.021 (1), Florida Statutes (1989).

Here, under the authorities cited and the plain language of section 775.084, it cannot be contended that the legislature meant that a finding of habitualization allows a court to impose probation or community control in lieu of prison. The statute, as plainly worded, means a defendant is to go to prison when properly found to be a habitual offender and is to suffer a more extended term in prison. If a court decides that a sentence as a habitual offender is not proper or necessary, sentence is to be imposed without regard to the statute. § 775.084(4) (c), Fla. Stat. (1989). Clearly this means that the court would be restricted to the statutory maximum or guidelines sentence, unless a valid reason for departure existed. State v. Jones, 559 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1990).

The terms habitual offender and probation are mutually exclusive. Certainly the two sentencing alternatives are in opposition. In placing a defendant on probation under section 948.01(3), Florida Statutes (1989), the trial court judge finds that "the defendant is not likely again to engage in a criminal course of conduct and that the ends of justice and the welfare of

society do not require that the defendant presently suffer the penalty imposed by law." Whereas, in finding a defendant to be a habitual offender, the trial court judge is determining that the defendant's prior conduct is indicative of future criminal conduct and that he is inherently a danger to society. § 775.084, Fla. Stat. (1989).

As to the incongruity of the statutory schemes, the court in Scott v. State, 550 So.2d 111, 112 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. dismissed, 560 So.2d 235 (1990), said:

We doubt that the legislature ever intended that a person could be placed on probation and then, years later, if the probation failed, be subjected to the provisions of the habitual offender statute. In fact, the findings required to order probation are precisely opposite to the findings required to invoke the habitual offender statute. The purpose of habitualization is to protect society against habitual offenders . . . Probation, on the other hand, may only be imposed if it appears to the court that the defendant is not likely again to engage in a criminal course of conduct and that the ends of justice and the welfare of society do not require that the defendant presently suffer the penalty imposed by law.

Contrary to the above authorities, the Second District Court of Appeal held in the instant case and in Thompson v. State, 591 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) that it would not address the arguments that sentences of probation or community control should not have been allowed after the appellants were declared habitual offenders. The court reasoned that the appellants did not object or timely appeal the initial probation or community control, thereby waiving the right to attack the sanctions at revocation.

The court relied on Wolfson v. State, 437 So.2d 174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), implying that the sentence imposed was not illegal but merely unlawful.

Wolfson, however, also stands for the proposition that a defendant cannot confer by waiver jurisdiction to impose an illegal sentence. Wolfson, 437 So.2d at 175. A sentence which is illegal as a matter of law may be challenged at any time. Fla. R. Crim. Pr. 3.800(a). An illegal sentence is one against or not authorized by law. Black's Law Dictionary 673 (5th ed. 1979). The Fifth District Court of Appeal in State v. Kendrick, 17 F.L.W. D812, D813 (Fla. 5th DCA March 27, 1992),<sup>2</sup> specifically held that as the habitual felony offender statute mandates a "sentence" of "a term of years," the placing of a defendant on straight probation in lieu of sentence constitutes an "unauthorized" and "illegal" sentence. Contra King v. State, 17 F.L.W. D662, D663 (Fla. 2d DCA March 4, 1992).<sup>3</sup> There the Second District Court of Appeal held habitualized community control is not per se illegal. The court went on to state that under section 775.084, absent a decision that sentencing as a habitual felony offender is not necessary, any sentence of such an habitualized defendant must be a prison sentence for a term of years. To properly impose probation or community control, the court would first have to find that a sentence as a habitual offender was not necessary and then impose sentence pursuant to the

---

<sup>2</sup> Kendrick v. State, Case # 79,953, is presently before this Court with the issue of jurisdiction still pending.

<sup>3</sup> Review of King, Case # 79,805, has been denied by this Court.

guidelines, finding proper reasons for a downward departure when necessary. King, 17 F.L.W. at D665.

That the sentence imposed in the instant case is unauthorized and illegal is shown not only by the previously cited authorities but also by a long line of cases which support review of illegal sanctions. In Bouie v. State, 360 So.2d 1142, 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978), the court held an illegal sentence may be collaterally attacked at any time, even after the period for a direct appeal has expired. Bouie received an illegal sentence of one year on probation for an offense with a maximum sentence of six months. He did not object or appeal the original illegal probationary sentence. Nine months later the trial court violated his original probation and imposed another one year term of probation. The defendant then raised the illegality of his original probationary sentence after the revocation and the court vacated the illegal sentence and discharged the defendant. Bouie, 360 So.2d at 1144.

Further, a defendant need not make a contemporaneous objection to later challenge an illegal sentence or condition of probation. Larson v. State, 572 So.2d 1368, 1370 (Fla. 1991). A defendant may not confer on a trial court the authority to impose an illegal sentence by agreement, waiver, or failure to object. Clark v. State, 579 So.2d 109, 110-111 (Fla. 1991). See also, Forehand v. State, 537 So. 2d 103, 104 (Fla. 1989) (contemporaneous objection not necessary to preserve review of unauthorized sentencing guidelines departure where error is apparent on the face of the record); State v. Whitfield, 487 So.2d 1045, 1047 (Fla. 1986)

(contemporaneous objection rule not required to preserve review of trial court's failure to make mandatorily written, clear and convincing reasons for upward departure from sentencing guidelines); State v. Rhoden, 448 So.2d 1013, 1016 (Fla. 1984) (where juvenile statute provides for findings of fact, in order to make effective right of sentence review, contemporaneous objection rule is not applicable).<sup>4</sup>

Section 775.084(3) (a)-(d) and (4) (c), Florida Statutes (1989), sets forth the procedural safeguards Florida trial courts are to follow in making a determination that a defendant is a habitual offender. In the instant case, Mr. Joyner was noticed only at the time he was placed on community control. At the time of his revocation hearing, he was given no further notice that he would be treated as a habitual offender. The court summarily found him to be a habitual offender without making a record at the revocation proceeding of a pre-sentence investigation, certified copies of prior convictions, or evidence that prior felony convictions were neither pardoned nor set aside in a post conviction proceeding. The court merely told someone to get certified copies of two convictions in the file at a future date.

---

<sup>4</sup> The State is expected to argue that a sentence may not be challenged after the defendant has accepted the benefits from a plea, but has failed to carry out the conditions imposed on him. See Bashlor v. State, 586 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). The sentencing error in Bashlor, however, was considered merely improper and not illegal. The instant case involves a sentence which is illegal as a matter of law, and may not have been bargained for because there is nothing in the plea agreement indicating habitualized community control. (R10-11)

Mr. Joyner contends that since habitualization is such a harsh sentencing sanction the trial court must strictly comply with the statute. In Hodges v. State, 17 F.L.W. D787, 788 (Fla. 1st DCA March 24, 1992) the court held that it was reversible error to fail to make such findings even absent objection. See also, Frazier v. State, 595 So.2d 131 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Bryant v. State, 17 F.L.W. D1343 (Fla. 4th DCA May 27, 1992). Contra Baxter v. State, 17 F.L.W. D812 (Fla. 2d DCA May 27, 1992) (affirmative defenses such as lack of pardon must be raised by defendant at trial level to be preserved).<sup>5</sup>

In addition to the foregoing arguments, there are public policy reasons that habitualized community control or probation and their subsequent revocation should not be sanctioned as permissible sentences. In Burdick v. State, 594 So.2d 267, 270, n. 8 (Fla. 1992),<sup>6</sup> this Court recognized that placing limits on the length of sentencing is a legislative function. However, the court noted that the habitual offender statute contradicts the sentencing guidelines. By simply classifying a defendant as a habitual offender, the trial judge regains all the discretion the sentencing guidelines were intended to reduce. In this case, the classification of Mr. Joyner allowed the trial court to thwart the intent of

---

<sup>5</sup> In Baxter, Case # 79,993, the Court has postponed a decision on jurisdiction. Petitioner's merit brief has been filed.

<sup>6</sup> The state is expected to rely on Burdick for the proposition that sentencing under the habitual offender statute is entirely permissive. Petitioner notes that Burdick applies only to subsection 775.084(4) (a) and (4) (b). Burdick does not address the issue of whether a sentence of habitualized probation or community control is illegal. See Kendrick, 17 F.L.W. at D812-813.



the sentencing guidelines as well as the probation and community control statutes.

Effective appellate review is also thwarted by the practices employed here. If a trial court offers a defendant probation or community control as a habitual felony offender, it affords a disincentive to make a record below to either challenge or support the sentence. The offer of probation or community control would seldom be declined by a defendant, but the successful completion of probation or community control is actually seldom achieved. The absence of an incentive to the court and counsel to make an adequate record is contrary to the provision in section 775.084 (3), which provides for full appealability of the findings required.

This Court should also consider the practices here in light of sentencing disparity and cost to the public. A report on habitual offender sentencing concludes that habitual sentences create wildly disparate results among offenders with similar criminal backgrounds and may be applied in a racially discriminatory manner. Habitual Offender and Minimum Mandatory Sentencing in Florida. A Focus on Sentencing Practices and Recommendations for Legislative Reform; House Committee on Criminal Justice, at 69, 71 November 1991). A discussion of the changing penal system in which individual trial judges are given the power to commit and spend vast quantities of tax dollars over a long period of time based on a defendant's habitual offender sentencing (60 years at a potential cost of up to \$788,400 for his room and board) is found in Brown v. State, 17

F.L.W. D997 (Fla. 2d DCA April 15, 1992) (ALTENBERND, J., Specially concurring). Brown cites Jones v. State, 589 So.2d 1001, 1003, n. 1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (FERGUSON, J., Dissenting), which discusses disparity in sentencing on a cocaine charge and indicates that the average cost to house a male prisoner, exclusive of the construction costs for correctional facilities, is approximately \$36 per day, or \$13,140 per year. Citing Florida Department of Corrections, Summary of Financial Data for Fiscal Year Ending June 10, 1991.

Based on public policy considerations, statutory provisions and legislative intent, and the foregoing case authorities and arguments, Mr. Joyner's ten-year habitualized sentence must be vacated. Mr. Joyner should be given a guidelines sanction, with the habitual offender designation deemed void. Jones; Scott.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the judgment and sentence of the lower court.