047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J WHITE 9/14

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

LESTER JOYNER,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 79,565

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ELAINE L. THOMPSON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 816302
4000 HOLLYWOOD BOULEVARD
SUITE 505 SOUTH
HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA 33021
(305) 985-4788

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent makes this addition to the facts as submitted by petitioner: After petitioner was placed on community control on February 23, 1990, petitioner did not prosecute an appeal of the judgment or sentence. 1

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner has not included as part of the record any of the transcripts of the hearings wherein he entered his pleas (January 30, 1989; July 31, 1989; February 23, 1990) nor the transcript of hearing on this violation of Community Control wherein he pled guilty.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The procedures utilized by the trial court in sentencing petitioner were proper. By placing petitioner on community control without declaring that it was <u>not</u> necessary to protect the public, the sentence was improper. However, that improper sentence erred to petitioner's benefit and he has no right to complain. With the issuance of <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the problems in sentencing under the habitual offender statute should be resolved. <u>King</u> is a correct application of that statute.

Even if the sentence was improper when imposed, by failing to object or filing an appeal, petitioner cannot be heard to complain after revocation of that sentence. Factual findings which are not disputed in the trial court should not be subject to review on appeal, unless error is demonstrated on the face of the record.

Most importantly, since petitioner did not present any of his claims to the trial court and raised a new one in this Court, those issues are not properly preserved for appellate review.

This Court should affirm the ruling of the district court.

#### ARGUMENT

THE ARGUMENTS PRESENTED ARE NOT PROPER FOR REVIEW THEY WERE NOT RAISED IN THE TRIAL COURT. MOREOVER, SINCE PETITIONER SHOULD HAVE SENTENCED TO A HARSHER SENTENCE ORIGINALLY, HE CANNOT BE HEARD TO COMPLAIN ABOUT A SENTENCE WHICH ERRED IN HIS FAVOR.

Petitioner attacks his conviction and sentence on three grounds. First, he alleges that his initial sentence of community control as a habitual offender was illegal. Petitioner then asserts that since the initial sentence was illegal, he may challenge that sentence after having accepted the allegedly illegal sentence. Finally, petitioner challenges the procedure by which the trial court initially found him to be a habitual offender. None of the arguments raised in the district court were presented to the trial court, and one of the arguments raised in this court was not argued in the district court. Unless this Court finds that the error was fundamental, the issues are not properly preserved for review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

In the district court, petitioner alleged that his sentence of "habitualized community control" consitututed an illegal application of section 775.084 and chapter 948. (App. Brief at 3, 4-5). In this Court, petitioner alleges that his original sentence of habitualized community control was illegal. (Petitioner's brief at 5). Unless petitioner's initial sentence

Although the state's answer brief in the district court primarily raised a waiver defense, petitioner did not file a reply brief. By not filing a reply brief, petitioner failed to address the issue of whether he waived his right to object to the initial sentence.

was illegal, petitioner has no grounds to complain. Petitioner's entire argument concerning the alleged illegality of his initial sentence has no statutory support. Instead, petitioner argues that the probation statute and habitual offender statute are mutually exclusive. In Ch. 88-131, Laws of Florida, the legislature amended section 775.084(4)(e), Florida Statutes. That amendment removed the habitual offender sentence from the sentencing guidelines provision; it removed habitual offenders from consideration for parole; and it removed them from consideration for gain time. It had no effect on section 775.084(4)(c), but extended the possible prison terms that may be imposed while making sure that defendants would serve more time in prison by reducing the possibility of early release.

The defendant in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991), argued that the trial court could not depart from the sentencing guidelines after revocation of probation because by placing him on probation, the court necessarily had to find that he was not likely again to engage in a criminal course of conduct. This Court rejected that argument based on the possible deterrent effect on probation. <u>Id</u>. at 146.

Petitioner's argument is essentially the same as Williams' argument. Petitioner asserts that by placing a defendant on probation or community control, the court necessarily found that he was not likely to engage in criminal conduct and therefore, habitual offender sentencing was inappropriate. Based on petitioner's argument, if a defendant meets the criteria for habitualization under section 775.084,

Florida Statutes, neither probation or community control is a proper disposition. That interpretation is inconsistent with section 775.084(4)(c), Florida Statutes. Section 775.084(4)(c), Florida Statutes (1989), gives the trial court discretion to determine whether to sentence a defendant as a habitual offender. Petitioner's argument would completely negate that section since he claims that defendants found to be habitual offenders must be sentenced to a "term of years" under section 775.084(4)(a). In construing statutes, court must, to the extent possible, give effect to all parts of a statute. Kepner v. State, 571 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 1991). To give effect to subsection 4(c), the trial courts must have the discretion not to impose a habitual offender sentence, otherwise, that subsection would be meaningless.

The analysis employed in <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), most accurately reflects the options available to a trial court where a defendant is found to be a habitual offender. In <u>King</u>, the court emphasized the fact that section 775.084(4)(c), Florida Statutes, clearly gives a judge the discretion as to whether to sentence a defendant as a habitual offender. <u>Id</u>. at 314. Although petitioner points out that the legislature provided that the most severe sanction should be pursued by the prosectution (petitioner's brief at 6), that does not mandate that the court impose the most severe sanction possible. Otherwise, subsection 4(c) is meaningless.

In <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1992), the defendant argued that the trial court is not required to impose the maximum penalty provided in the statute, but rather can

sentence the defendant anywhere up to the maximum sanction. The Court held sentencing under section 775.084 (4)(a), Florida Statutes (1989), is permissive, not mandatory. The Court noted that the trial judge regains all the discretion the guidelines were intended to reduce by simply classifying a defendant as a habitual offender. Id. at 270. Therefore, persons found to be habitual felony offenders may be sentenced as habitual felony offenders under subsections 775.084(4)(a)(1),(2), or (3), Fla. Statutes. King, supra, at 316. If the court decides that sentencing as a habitual offender is not necessary for the protection of the public, the defendant is to be sentenced under the guidelines. Id.; section 775.084(4)(c), Fla. Stat. (1989).

Section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1989), provides that upon revocation of probation or community control, the court may impose any sentence that it might have originally imposed before placing the defendant on probation or community control. In <u>Williams</u>, this Court upheld a departure sentence imposed after revocation of probation. This Court recognized that trial courts might be less willing to give defendant's another chance by putting them on probation if the court was forbidden from exercising its authority under section 948.06(1), in the event probation was violated. The Court approved the trial court's application of section 948.06(1) to defendants after revocation of probation and permitted the trial courts to impose a departure sentence based on conditions which the trial court could have provided at the initial sentencing. Based on section 948.06(1), after revocation of community control petitioner was subject to

ten years imprisonment as a habitual offender. That is the sentence that was imposed upon revocation of his community control. Therefore, petitioner has no grounds to complain.

Petitioner's dissatisfaction is with the time period within which the trial court may impose a sentence as a habitual offender. The state believes that the procedure employed here, and that employed in <u>Snead v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), are proper methods for imposing habitual offenders sentences. In both cases, the defendants were initially spared from a harsh prison sentence. After revocation of probation and community control, the trial courts exercised their authority to impose any sentence which they might have imposed originally. This procedure is consistent with the policy of giving the defendant another chance. See, Williams, supra.

In <u>State v. Kendricks</u>, 17 F.L.W. 812 (Fla. 5th DCA March 27, 1992), the trial court determined that imposition of a habitual offender sentence <u>was</u> necessary for the protection of the public. Therefore, under <u>King</u>, the defendant should have been sentenced pursuant to section 775.084(4)(a)(2), Florida Statutes (1989). The sanction imposed in <u>Kendricks</u> by the trial court was not within the terms of the statute. Accordingly, the sentence was improper. By placing the defendant on probation, the trial court withheld sentencing. If the court had found that it was <u>not</u> necessary for the protection of the public that the defendant be sentenced as a habitual offender, then the defendant would be required to be sentenced under the guidelines. <u>King</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 315. In <u>Kendricks</u>, the sentencing guidelines indicated

a permissible range of 2 ½ to 5 ½ years incarceration. By imposing probation, the court imposed a downward departure without providing written reasons. Therefore the sentence was improper. The analysis utilized in <u>Kendricks</u> is consistent with the court's ruling in King, supra.

Assuming arguendo that the original sentence constituted an illegal application of section 775.084, petitioner is estopped from challenging the sentence after he has enjoyed its benefits. All five of the district courts of appeal have applied estoppel policy when defendants tried to attack sentences (which they initially accepted) after revocation of probation or community control. See King v. State, 373 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); Bradley v. State, 17 F.L.W. 1697 (Fla. 3d DCA July 14, 1992); McCarthy v. State, 382 So. 2d 408 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); Clem v. State, 462 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Pollock v. State, 450 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Wolfson v. State, 437 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); Gallagher v. State, 421 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Bashlor v. State, 586 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); and McPhee v. State, 254 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971). The rationale for preventing defendants from attacking the legality of a sentence is based on fairness. No defendant should be able to enjoy the benefits of a probation sentence which is allegedly illegal, and after revocation of probation, attack the original probation. Since petitioner had the right to challenge the sentence when it was originally imposed but failed to do so, his inaction results in a waiver of the improper sentence.

Absent some jurisdictional flaw, Florida courts have repeatedly held that sentences imposed in violation of statutory requirements may not be challenged after the defendant has accepted the benefits but failed to carry out the conditions imposed on him. Bashlor, supra, at 489. Once the defendant has entered a quilty plea, the state may not keep in touch with its witness nor maintain the evidence, especially in cases involving narcotics. If the defendant is allowed to challenge his original sentence, which was the basis for the bargain, the state is at a severe disadvantage. In recognition of the very real danger of prejudice to the state, the district courts have not permitted defendants to attack sentences which they bargained for and benefitted from, in the absence of a jurisdictional flaw. This Court should uphold this policy. To do otherwise diminishes the incentive for the state or trial court to enter negotiated pleas. In this case, there is no dispute that the circuit court had jurisdiction to sentence petitioner. Therefore, petitioner should not be heard to complain about a sentence from which he benefitted.

In McCloud v. State, 335 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1976), this Court ruled that a defendant is not in a position to complain about a lesser sentence. Petitioner was not sentenced as a habitual offender even though the trial court did not find that imposition of sentence as a habitual offender was not necessary. This was error. See King, 597 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). Had the trial court made such a finding, petitioner was then subject to sentencing under the guidelines. Id. Therefore, the

sentence initially imposed was a lesser sentence than that which was required by law. Petitioner, like <u>Kendricks</u>, received an improper, lenient sentence. However, the state, not petitioner, was disadvantaged because at the time of petitioner's original sentence, the state was not allowed to appeal the "habitual probation" or "habitual community control" sentences. See <u>State v. Davis</u>, 559 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), receded from <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d at 317. Therefore, petitioner has benefitted from the improper sentence with resulting prejudice to the state. Accordingly, he has no grounds to complain. <u>McCloud</u>, supra.

Clark v. State, 579 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1991), does not help petitioner's case. In Clark, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to change the conditions of probation because no formal charges had been filed under section 948.06. defendant in Larson v. State, 572 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1991), filed a direct appeal challenging the original order of probation. Both Clark and Larson are consistent with the districts courts policy of allowing challenges to sentences imposed in violation of statutory requirements only if there is a jurisdictional flaw, after revocation of probation or community control. If a defendant enters into a plea bargain for a specific sentence and he later challenges the sentence, the state will not receive its benefit from the bargain and therefore, the state should be allowed to vacate the plea. That way, all parties are back to square one and either a new plea bargain can be reached or the matter may be set for trial. A plea bargain is essentially a

contract by which both parties are bound. Neither party has the right to excise one portion of the deal and force the remaining party to be stuck with what's left. That is essentially what a defendant does when they enter into a plea agreement and later challenge the terms of the plea after they have violated the conditions of probation. The state, like the defendant, is entitled to justice.

Finally, petitioner challenges the procedure employed to sentence him as a habitual offender. First and foremost, petitioner should not be heard to complain about the procedures used to habitualize him. Petitioner has not made a part of the record on appeal any transcript of the hearing wherein he was found to be a habitual offender. The findings and judgment of the trial court comes to the appellate court with a presumption of correctness. Boylan v. Boylan, 571 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). Petitioner has the burden of bringing before the appellate court an adequate record to support his appeal. He has failed to do so.

Petitioner alleges that the trial court failed to make a record at the revocation proceedings of any evidence to support his habitual offender findings. Petitioner was not found to be a habitual offender at his revocation hearing. The record on appeal shows that petitioner was found to be a habitual offender at his original sentencing hearing on February 23, 1990. (R1,15) The judgment for petitioner's conviction was entered on February 23, 1990, and it contains the habitual offender notation. (R15) Petitioner did not make the transcript of the February 23, 1990,

hearing a part of the record on appeal. Petitioner did not direct the clerk to include a copy of that hearing, nor did he direct the court reporter to transcribe the hearing. (R50-54) Even after respondent informed the district court that the February 23, 1990, hearing was not part of the record, petitioner did not seek to make it available. Since petitioner has the burden of bringing before the appellate court an adequate record to support his appeal, his failure to include the transcript of February 23, 1990, hearing prohibits this court from reviewing his claim regarding the factual findings required under Section 775.084(1)(a)(1-4), Florida Statute (1989).

Respondent asserts that even if the transcript had been provided, petitioner's failure to raise any challenge to the factual findings on direct appeal from his original sentence or in the trial court precludes relief. Since the issue could have been raised on direct appeal from the original sentence and was not presented to the trial court at either the original sentencing hearing nor the revocation hearing, petitioner has waived his right to review. Johnson v. State, 541 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Eutzy v. State, 541 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 1989). The findings required by section 775.084 (1)(a) (1-4), Florida Statute (1989), are all factual matters to be resolved by the trial court. In the absence of any objection in the trial,

Although petitioner was noticed on the same day he was sentenced, since there is no proof that petitioner was prejudiced or that he objected, his failure to raise the timeliness issue on direct appeal constitutes a waiver. See <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 590 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); <u>Chalk v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. 1751 (Fla. 4th DCA July 22, 1992); and <u>Judge v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

errors that are not apparent and determinable from the record which involved factual matters are precluded appellate review.

Dailey v. State, 488 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1986). Since there is no evidence that shows that petitioner objected to or disputed the trial court's findings of fact, he cannot be heard to complain.

#### CONCLUSION

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